

Fraunhofer Institute Systems and Innovation Research

Arbeitspapiere Unternehmen und Region Working Papers Firms and Region No. R3/2001

The role of higher education institutions for entrepreneurship stimulation in regional innovation systems – Evidence from the network-oriented "EXIST: Promotion of university-based startups" programme in Germany*

Knut Koschatzky

ISSN 1438-9843

^{*} This is the full version of a paper presented at the workshop "The influence of co-operations, networks and institutions on regional innovation systems", Max Planck Institute for Research into Economic Systems, Jena, 8-10 February 2001.

Contact:

Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research (ISI) Department "Innovation Services and Regional Development" Breslauer Strasse 48 D-76139 Karlsruhe Telephone: +49 / 721 / 6809-138 Telefax: +49 / 721 / 6809-176 e-mail: cs@isi.fhg.de URL: www.isi.fhg.de/ir/departm.htm

Karlsruhe 2001 ISSN 1438-9843

Contents

1.	Introduction1					
2.	Theoretical arguments for regional innovation and network promotion2					
3.	The role of HEIs in regional innovation systems5					
4.	Regional incubato program	network formation as a policy approach for activating the r function of HEIs in regional innovation systems: the EXIST me	8			
5.	Major cl	naracteristics of the EXIST regions	12			
	5.1	General overview	12			
	5.2	Innovative and technological potential of the regions	14			
6.	Network	building in the five EXIST regions – a general overview	19			
	6.1	Methodological issues	19			
	6.2	Network structures and network obstacles	20			
	6.3	Spin-off activity in the EXIST networks	26			
7.	Conclusi	ons and policy implications				
8.	Reference	es	32			

Figures

Figure 1:	The five EXIST regions in Germany	. 10
Figure 2:	Relative patent specialisation of scientific inventors in the five EXIST regions	18
Figure 3:	Size of network and number of cooperations	21
Figure 4:	Hierarchical pattern of network relations in the five EXIST regions	24
Figure 5:	Influence of EXIST on activities for entrepreneurship promotion in the five regions	26

Tables

Table 1:	Characteristics of the five EXIST regions	16
Table 2:	Duration and intensity of networking relationships	22
Table 3:	Cooperation climate	23
Table 4:	Categories of network obstacles according to regions	25
Table 5:	Firm foundation activity in the EXIST regions [*]	27

1. Introduction

In recent years, not only has the "network paradigm" as defined by Cooke/Morgan (1993) become the starting-point for policy measures aiming at a better exploitation of innovation potentials, but also the region, i.e. sub-national spatial entities, has been made an important platform for innovation and technology policy implementation by national governments (cf. Koschatzky/Sternberg 2000: 494-499). Specifically, the cluster concept as developed by Michael Porter (cf. Porter 1998 for an overview) and other theoretical approaches of the "new economic geography" (Krugman 1998) contributed to the popularisation of innovation promotion at the regional level. However, not every region in a country (or, in other words, in a national innovation system) has the infrastructure and knowledge potential to develop into a highly networked high-tech island with leading-edge technology, industry and research. Nevertheless, those regions in a country which already possess some innovative and technological strengths in research and industry can be made the starting point for further exploiting and strengthening their innovative performance and by this contributing to employment and income generation (Koschatzky 2000: 8).

One aspect in the spectrum of different innovation and technology promotion measures is the exploitation of the scientific-technological capacity of research and higher education institutes by linking research more closely to the market. This can be done by improving the regional conditions for start-ups. Major aspects and influential factors in this respect are the supply of and the access to venture capital, the qualification of the potential firm founders, the culture of entrepreneurship in a region or a nation and the general framework conditions which either support or hamper the readiness for taking the risk of founding an own firm. Especially with regard to innovative or technology-oriented firm foundations, the hypothesis is put forward in this paper that higher education institutions (HEIs) such as universities and technical colleges (polytechnics) could play an important role in activities aiming at qualifying and supporting potential firm founders such as students, graduates and staff personnel. Since these institutions cannot develop all necessary resources on their own, they have to establish networks by which the different supportive activities can be linked and utilised.

Thus, this paper has two major objectives: Firstly, it intends to shed some light on the role which HEIs can play for promoting entrepreneurship in their region and for increasing the number of university-based start-ups, and, secondly, to discuss the possibilities for network formation in regions by public promotion measures implemented by the national government. Empirical basis for dealing with these objectives will be the "EXIST: promotion of university-based start-ups" programme of the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research. The paper intends to answer the following questions:

- By which theoretical arguments can a regionally- and network-oriented innovation policy be justified?
- Which role could HEIs play in their region?
- By which incentives and measures can regional network formation around HEIs be promoted?
- Which role does the specific regional environment (economic structure, existing institutions, openness for network formation) play in the emergence and development of networks aiming at the promotion of entrepreneurship in different regions?
- Which kinds of networks emerge and which obstacles do they face?
- Is network building the right instrument for activating the firm foundation potential of HEIs and for integrating them more closely into the regional economy?
- Which contribution to the regional economy can be expected by increasing start-up activities at HEIs?

The paper is therefore structured as follows: in sections 2, 3 and 4 the first three questions will be discussed, while in section 5 the innovative infrastructure and the technological potential of the regions under investigation will be described. Section 6 discusses certain aspects of network building and network obstacles based on a regional network analysis. Section 7 finally draws conclusions from the empirical analysis and answers some of the remaining open questions.

2. Theoretical arguments for regional innovation and network promotion

The "new economic geography" not only "...serves the important purpose of placing geographical analysis squarely in the economic mainstream", as Krugman (1998: 7) puts it, and thus is not only fuelled by models of the new growth and the new trade theory, but comprises many other theoretical concepts dealing with economic and social aspects of the regional distribution of technological development and innovative activity in space. Since these concepts were much less formalised than economic models, they were hardly noticed in economic science. Nevertheless, many of them apply the findings of evolutionary innovation economics, according to which innovation is a path dependent, complex and cumulative process consisting of learning processes and knowledge flows between different actors and activities, acting in an uncertain and risky environment (Dosi 1988: 222-223). Pointing to the interactive character of innovation and to the importance of spatially limited spillover effects in knowledge ex-

change, these concepts are an integral part and a substantial complement of a new economic geography.

As a matter of fact, two major aspects elaborated in the different models should be highlighted which underline the relevance of regions and networking in innovation processes. As emphasised in the concept of regional innovation systems (Cooke 1998), but also in the learning region (Boekema et al. 2000; Florida 1995; Morgan 1997) and innovative milieux approaches (Ratti et al. 1997 for a recent summary), spatial prox*imity* between knowledge producers and knowledge users plays an important role especially in early phases of innovation processes, when relevant knowledge is of tacit character and therefore localised, when technology producers and technology users have to co-operate closely for meeting specific user needs, or when uncertainty about future development prospects is high. Proximity advantages are explained by positive external effects and thus productivity and cost advantages. According to the *concept of* industrial districts (e.g. Pyke/Sengenberger 1992; Messner 1995; Sternberg 1995; also Antonelli 2000 for technological districts), external effects predominantly develop from localisation advantages, i.e. from regional specialisation. A different position is taken by the *innovative milieux approaches* which argue with a diversified economic structure in a region and with the importance of a regional culture and identity. This creates the basis for trustful cooperation and for the development of informal, hierarchy-poor and horizontal networks within a region. According to the concept of learning regions, the generation of collective learning processes based on tacit and spatially immobile knowledge explain that interactions between the different actors in innovation processes emerge over short physical distances, especially in new technologies or at the early phases of innovation. Although the reasons for explaining the importance of spatial proximity differ, it is common understanding of all the mentioned concepts that limited spatial entities (i.e. regions) act as seed-beds for new technological, organisational or social developments. Spatial and cultural proximity between knowledge producers and knowledge users is especially *important* (cf. Koschatzky 2001)

- when new technological trajectories emerge,
- in the early phase of innovation processes,
- when technologies are science-based which is especially the case in young technologies,
- when relevant knowledge is disembodied, can only be exchanged by observation or personal communication and is thus localised, and
- when technology producers and technology users have to co-operate closely for meeting specific user needs.

Proximity is unimportant

• in cases of incremental innovation with a low level of uncertainty,

- when it comes to standardised technologies and the production of mass consumption goods, and
- in cases of process innovation.

A second important factor making the region the starting point for policy action is the special role attributed to *innovation networking* for utilising and exploiting innovative potential by network and transaction costs economics and summarised in the concept of regional innovation systems (RIS). According to the concept (cf. Braczyk *et al.* 1998; Cooke *et al.* 1997; Cooke 1999), RIS are characterised by

- the existence of firms, universities, research institutes, intermediaries, financial institutions and other agencies and a close networking between them,
- the existence of a local capital market,
- a certain degree of autonomous public spending competence,
- the responsibility for the extension of classical infrastructural facilities, and
- an innovative atmosphere and a learning orientation of firms and the whole population.

Horizontal, hierarchy-poor and trustful co-operative relationships are an important mechanism for linking innovation actors, resources and activities in and between innovation systems and a means of information and knowledge exchange and for facilitating learning processes. The importance of interacting in innovation processes makes it clear that networking is an essential means of knowledge exchange and learning (Coombs/Hull 1998; Cowan/Foray 1997; Cimoli/Dosi 1996; Håkansson 1989; Lawson/Lorenz 1999; Lundvall 1988; Nonaka/Takeuchi 1995; Spender 1996). The advantage of networks lies thus in the acquisition of complementary resources, which an individual actor does not have at his own disposal. The degree of external effects which can be realised by networking strongly depends on the ability to search for appropriate partners, and of utilising external, innovation-relevant knowledge. The higher this so-called absorptive capacity (cf. Cohen/Levinthal 1990: 128), the more firms and other actors are able to seek out co-operation partners and to co-operate within network relations, not only within their regional environment, but on an international scale. Networking ability, learning and knowledge accumulation represent a cumulative process, by which firms and other economic actors might enter into path dependency. Institutions which do not co-operate and which do not exchange knowledge reduce their knowledge base on a long-term basis and lose the ability to enter into exchange relations with other firms and organisations.¹ On the other hand, organisa-

¹ The terms "institution" and "organisation" are used synonymously here, although in new institutional economics a distinction is made between institutions, which comprise all formal or informal rules that constrain human interaction, and organisations, which are groups of individuals bound by

tions which are integrated into multilayered networks, continuously improve their abilities for learning as well as their knowledge base, and concomitantly, the possibility of using new knowledge (Capello 1999). According to the RIS concept, spatial proximity within a region favours network formation and public policy (e.g. by regional or local governments) can play an active role in network stimulation between so far not co-operating institutions. By this, it can make essential contributions for overcoming system fragmentation (Landabaso *et al.* 2001).

It can be concluded from the different theoretical approaches briefly discussed above that regional innovation networks might act as catalysts in the exploitation of regional innovation potentials (e.g. Tödtling 1994, 1999) and that network stimulation within a region can be publicly triggered. As different examples show, this perspective was taken as a serious argument by policy makers for the formulation and implementation of regionally-oriented network-based promotion measures (Koschatzky/Sternberg 2000).

3. The role of HEIs in regional innovation systems

HEIs are important actors in regional innovation systems and in learning regions (Morgan 1997). They not only act as knowledge producers, knowledge exchange agents and teaching organisations (Etzkowitz *et al.* 2000), but often are important bridgeheads to national and international scientific, technological and economic networks, especially for those firms and institutions which cannot establish comparable network relations by their own. HEIs generally carry out two main functions (Koschatzky/Héraud 1996: 3-6):

- they manage the common knowledge base of a region by producing and diffusing knowledge through education, by distributing scientific and technological information and by demonstrating and transferring technological or scientific solutions; and
- they provide expertise knowledge by training, consulting, contract research and development, or by transfer services, taking into account the specific needs of single actors.

Although several spillover studies have found that spillover effects (or knowledge externalities) are spatially confined and that agglomeration economies favour the generation of spillover effects and thus also of innovative linkages between research and

some common purpose to achieve certain objectives (cf. North 1990: 4-5; Kelm 1996). Nevertheless, the term institution is often used interchangeably with organisation.

industry (e.g. Jaffe *et al.* 1993; Anselin *et al.* 1997; Varga 2000), a distinction is necessary between the type of institution. The spatial range of spillover effects is larger for industrial firms than for research institutes (ISI *et. al.* 2000: 412-413), but also differs between different types of research institutes. In co-operating with German universities and technical colleges for realising publicly funded research projects, 18 % of the universities, but 50 % of the technical colleges were located within a distance of 25 kilometres around the co-operating firm. Within a distance of 100 kilometres, 80 % of the technical colleges, which were mentioned by the firms as a relevant partner for realising the innovation project, but only 53 % of the universities has a wider catchment area than that of German technical colleges, which usually serve the local industry. As a matter of fact, universities have only weak innovation-oriented linkages to their respective region (Backhaus/Seidel 1998). From a regional point of view it can be argued that the knowledge potential of universities for stimulating innovative activity in a region is often under-utilised.

HEIs are not only knowledge producers, but can act as incubators for new firms. In countries like the USA, many scientific discoveries and technological developments are commercialised by researcher-owned spin-off firms (Abramson *et al.* 1997). Universities are part of privately organised dense networks between research institutions, industry and the financial sector (e.g. venture capital firms, business angels), but also with the government (cf. Etzkowitz/Leydesdorff 2000 for the triple helix model of university-industry-government relations). In the past, the situation looked different in Germany. For the years 1990-1996, the ATHENE project estimated an amount of 2,465 firm foundations originating from universities and technical colleges, which makes an average of approx. 350 university-based start-ups per year (ADT 1998). Keeping in mind that approx. 850,000 students, staff members and graduates could potentially found a new firm, the firm foundation activity at HEIs can be rated as quite low. This is also shown by the average start-up rate which reaches 6.9 persons involved in start-ups per 100 adults in the USA, while it is only 1.8 for Germany (Reynolds *et al.* 1999: 15).

University-based start-ups are not only a means for transferring scientific research into commercial application, but they are also an important element in a regional/national economy. Firm foundations in industry and service are a substantial mechanism for the renewal and development of a national and regional economy. The technological efficiency of a national and regional economy does not only depend on the innovation performances of the existing enterprises, but also on a permanent supply of new enterprises. Especially knowledge- and technology-based new firms implement business ideas which are not further pursued in existing enterprises. They generate application fields which only become possible through new technological developments, they create new and secure jobs, and they can become technology and market leaders on

growth-oriented future markets and thus influence regional, national or international competition.

The current technology-oriented firm foundation activity in Germany (as also in other industrial nations) is very manifold (Lessat *et al.* 1999): new technology based firms (NTBFs) cover a large range regarding growth potential, production or service spectrum, endowment with material and immaterial resources and also objectives of the founders. Only a small group are ambitious foundation projects, which aim at pushing forward into the class of middle or large enterprises within a decade. Besides, only some of such foundations achieve these targets. The large mass of NTBFs act as niche providers and belongs to the group of small enterprises with up to 50 employees. Nevertheless, their networking with suppliers and customers as well as their demand for production-oriented services allow their economic effect to go far beyond their firm-internal value added. If one would like to stimulate the resource and the job supply in a region by increasing the firm foundation activity, then not only the number of annual firm foundations should be increased, but also the quality of each foundation project with respect to the innovation level, its growth potential and its realisation. Here, HEIs could play a crucial role as incubators.

However, various restraining factors exist at universities. They are related to problems in transfer and commercialisation, to entrepreneurship education and to incentive-less public payment schemes (cf. Schmoch *et al.* 2000):

- Until quite recently, there were only very few universities in Germany which took an interest in the inventions of their professors and academic personnel and which supported them in patent application and licensing activities (Schmoch/Koschatzky 1996; Becher *et al.* 1996). Only in 2000, the Federal Government through its Ministry of Education and Research announced an initiative to systematically develop a professional patent commercialisation system at German HEIs for exploiting the so far unused innovation potential of universities and technical colleges (BMBF 2000a).
- For many years, entrepreneurship education and specific teaching courses for potential entrepreneurs were more a niche activity than a standard element in the curricula of many HEIs. Entrepreneurship as a subject for training appeared in the United States only in the middle of the 1960s and then diffused quite slowly to Europe (Fayolle 1998). Although the question is still being raised whether entrepreneurship can be taught (cf. Schefczyk/Garrecht 2000 for a short overview; see also Brockhaus 1993; Klandt 1991, 1994; Szyperski 1990), a sharp increase in training programmes can be observed since the first half of the 1990s in Germany (e.g. Håkansson 1998 for the first empirical results of Kaiserslautern's ExTra! training programme; see also Müller-Böling 2000). Nevertheless, the establishment of entrepreneurship education at German universities is an ongoing process.

• Regarding public payment schemes, it was the case at least until recent years that unlimited work contracts at universities, even without good payment, were more highly valued than the uncertain perspective of founding and managing an own firm. Klofsten/Jones-Evans (2000: 299) found out for academic institutions in Sweden and Ireland, that "...there is considerable entrepreneurial experience among academics in both countries, and that this translates into a high degree of involvement in 'soft' activities such as consultancy and contract research, but not into organisational creation via technology spin-offs." External factors do not seem to play a major role in explaining this behaviour, since the supply of seed and venture capital has been drastically improved during the last few years (cf. Kulicke 2001: 191 for Germany).

As has been shown so far, HEIs should have quite large potentials for a stronger integration in regional innovation systems and also for a better exploitation of the commercial use of their creativity and research activities. Based on empirical evidence from the EXIST programme, the networking ability of HEIs will be looked at in more detail in the following sections.

4. Regional network formation as a policy approach for activating the incubator function of HEIs in regional innovation systems: the EXIST programme

In December 1997, the "EXIST-Promotion of university-based start-ups" programme was launched by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) as a contest. Its general objective was that concepts for regional co-operation between universities, technical colleges, the business sector and further partners should be initiated. EXIST can thus be regarded as a multi-actor/multi-measure approach. Four guidance objectives are pursued (BMBF 2000b):

- The permanent creation of a "Culture of Entrepreneurship" in teaching, research and administration at higher-education institutions targeting at students, university personnel and graduates;
- increasing knowledge spillover into economic value added;
- the goal-directed promotion of the large potential for business ideas and entrepreneurs at higher-education institutions and research establishments;
- a significant increase in the number of innovative start-ups and the resulting creation of new and secure jobs.

These objectives can however only be achieved if the universities succeed in establishing foundation-oriented teaching programmes which aim at improving the personality features of potential firm founders, and if they are able to reform the study orders in a way that professional independence and entrepreneurship is put across as an interesting future option (see also Sternberg 2000: 150-151).

Following the call for proposals, 109 concepts were submitted. To qualify for participation, at least three different partners from a region had to work together, and one of the partners had to be a higher-education institute (university or polytechnic). In March 1998, a jury selected 12 of the 109 concepts which seemed to be the most promising (i.e. university-based networks in the regions Stuttgart, Karlsruhe/Pforzheim, Munich, Berlin/Brandenburg, Hamburg, Rostock/ Mecklenburg-Westpommerania, Gelsenkirchen/Bocholt/Bochum, Wuppertal/ Hagen, Kaiserslautern/Trier, Saarbrücken/Saarland, Dresden, Ilmenau/Jena/ Schmalkalden). These regions were given the opportunity to make their ideas more concrete until July 1998. In August 1998, five of them were awarded prizes for the best regions (cf. Figure 1): the networks "bizeps" (Wuppertal/Hagen), "dresden exists" (Dresden), "GET UP" (Ilmenau/Jena/ Schmalkalden), "KEIM" (Karlsruhe/ Pforzheim), and "PUSH!" (Stuttgart). Since the end of 1998, these five regional initiatives have been working towards the realisation of their concepts.² Funding, which amounts to 15.34 million €p.a. for the whole programme, has been granted until the end of 2001. To this end, good practice models for the motivation, training and support of founders for new firms and of entrepreneurship have to be set up. Universities and technical colleges have to work together with different external partners from industry, education and training, consultancy, the financial sector and administration. Accompanying measures are public relation activities, the "EXIST-Seed" programme which provides grants to students, graduates and faculty members for promoting promising ideas, and the "EXIST-HighTEPP" (High Technology Entrepreneurship Post-graduate) programme which aims at the training of young academics, the support of start-up projects and the training of managers for dynamic high-tech firms in the biotechnology, pharmaceutical and information technology industries.

With regard to the statements of the different theoretical concepts discussed in section 2, but also with regard to empirical analyses, a regional approach for stimulating the spin-off activity at HEIs seems justified, because

² The Department "Innovation Services and Regional Development" of Fraunhofer ISI is in charge of the scientific monitoring and evaluation of the five regional EXIST networks. The assessment of the five EXIST regions given in this paper reflects, however, only the personal estimation of the author and does not necessarily correspond with that of the scientific monitoring team.



Figure 1: The five EXIST regions in Germany

- approximately 70 % of all firm founders position their new business within a maximum of 25 kilometres from their place of residence (Schmude 1994: 80),³
- spatial proximity plays a crucial role in the exchange of tacit knowledge which dominates in research-based development projects and their commercialisation,
- the embeddedness in a well-known regional environment reduces uncertainties and risks for firm founders,
- more support can be given when breeding institution and firm founder are located close together,
- transaction and control costs within networks can be minimised.

On the other hand, the immobility of newly founded firms also contributes to regional labour market effects. As Werner (2000: 84-89) showed for East German new technology-based firms which received support under the promotion scheme TOU-NBL, the average employment figures reached 12.9 in the fifth business year and even 17.6 in the sixth year.⁴ The survival rate of these firms is 88.1 % in the fifth year, so that only 11.9 % dropped out during the stage succeeding the foundation. These figures indicate that the support of founders and newly established firms seems worthwhile and that the spatial entity in which the support should take place should not be too large, because the intensity of supporting agencies (cf. Sternberg 2000: 201). As a matter of fact, the EXIST regions should be of a size which allows close interactions between the different partners involved in entrepreneurship stimulation so that proximity really matters, but should on the other hand have a sufficient socio-economic potential for being able to act as a seeding-bed for new firms.

³ Using empirical data from the "Grüncol! – Gründungen aus Kölner Hochschulen" survey, Otten (2000: 16) found out that 61.6 % of the interviewed nascent entrepreneurs intend to stay in the greater Cologne area.

⁴ According to Ziegler *et al.* (1990), the average size of NTBFs in their fifth year of operation is 5.4 employees. Young firms, which received equity capital support by the Deutsche Ausgleichsbank, had on average 9.2 employees in their fifth year (Heil 1997).

5. Major characteristics of the EXIST regions

5.1 General overview

The initiative "*bizeps*" covers the Bergisch-Märkische region in the Federal state of North Rhine-Westphalia including the cities of Wuppertal, Hagen, Solingen and Remscheid (which do not belong to any district), as well as the Ennepe-Ruhr region and the Märkische region. This region with currently about 1.7 million inhabitants has experienced substantial structural adaptation from its previously traditional industrialisation several times. Small and medium-sized firms predominate in this densely industrialised region and its rather agricultural environment with an under-represented service sector. Both of the important HEIs of the region – the Bergische Universität-Gesamthochschule Wuppertal (BUGH) with currently about 15,000 students and the FernUniversität Hagen where approximately 44,000 students from all over Germany are registered - are involved in the "bizeps" programme (BMBF 2000b: 14). Except for the FernUniversität Hagen the rate of students per 1,000 inhabitants is 11.7 so that *bizeps* holds the last position of the EXIST regions. No applied research institute is located in this region. The network is sustained by 21 permanent partners (cf. Table 1).

The catchment area of "*Dresden exists*" is the city of Dresden itself with almost 470,000 inhabitants, as well as the surrounding rural districts of Sächsische Schweiz, Kamenz, Weißeritzkreis and Meißen-Radebeul with about 530,000 inhabitants, which show only limited industrial structure. Located in the south-east of Saxony, the region is currently placed in an EU border position. Following a fundamental reorganisation of the former economic structure, as well as the location not only of many industrial research institutions but also of production and R&D units by internationally active companies, the city of Dresden in particular is on its way to becoming a high-tech industrial region for micro-electronics and its application fields. *Dresden exists* is a university-focused network which was developed around the technical university of Dresden with its approximately 24,000 students. In view of the density of students, Dresden holds the second position among the five EXIST regions with a proportion of 24.1 students per 1,000 inhabitants. The network is maintained by 32 permanent partners (cf. Table 1).

In comparison to the remaining regions, the "*GET UP*" initiative is a special case. It includes the three separate academic locations of Jena (the city of Jena), Ilmenau (regions of Ilm and Saale-Holzland), and Schmalkalden (district of Schmalkalden-Meiningen) with a total of 461,000 inhabitants. The economy is characterised by a fundamental re-organisation of former structures, whereby new industrial cores will be created by activating endogenous potential. The centre of the *GET UP* catchment area is Jena and its university with a total of 17,800 registered students. In the past years,

Jena has distinguished itself as a high-tech region in the areas of microelectronics/optics, laser and bio-technology. In total, *GET UP* has 24,300 students, and with a density of 52.8 students per 1,000 inhabitants it ranks far ahead of the remaining EXIST regions. Due to the participation of several locations, more than 60 partners are permanently involved in the *GET UP* network (cf. Table 1).

The "*KEIM*" region integrates the technology region of Karlsruhe (Karlsruhe, Bruchsal, Baden-Baden and Rastatt) and the city of Pforzheim. Its large catchment area (about 1.3 million inhabitants) shows a wide range of firms of different sizes and from different branches without the predominance of large-scale enterprises, as well as several industrial research institutions (i.e. the Karlsruhe Research Centre, three Fraunhofer institutes). Due to its high share of technology branches (e.g. information and communication technology) among total employment, the region is assigned second place among the 15 leading European high tech regions by the EUROSTAT comparison. Main subjects of the Karlsruhe university and the technical college are technical and natural sciences; the technical college of Pforzheim is focused on economics. The total number of students registered at these three institutions is of 22,000. With a density of 17.8 students per 1,000 inhabitants the region is placed among the average of all EXIST regions. 15 partners are permanently involved in the network interconnecting the universities and the Karlsruhe Research Centre (cf. Table 1).

The catchment area of "PUSH! has the highest number of inhabitants (2.5 million) of all EXIST regions. For many years now, the area of Stuttgart has been one of the economically strongest regions of Germany including production and research units of many renowned large-scale enterprises and medium-sized firms. Only minor economic differences separate the individual districts from the city of Stuttgart. The region even beats Karlsruhe and holds first place in the EUROSTAT comparison of the 15 leading European high tech regions. A total of 40,000 students account for the region, 34,000 of which are registered at the universities participating in the PUSH! initiative (the universities of Stuttgart and Hohenheim as well as six technical colleges in Stuttgart, Esslingen and Nürtingen). Student density reaches 16 students per 1,000 inhabitants, thus holding fourth place following KEIM, and preceding bizeps. In contrast to the remaining EXIST regions, a dominant role is not played by the individual universities involved in the initiative. There is a great diversity of network partners with differing levels of participation (universities, research institutions, venture capital companies, financial institutions, consulting agencies and firms). Instead of a rigid organisational structure, demand-oriented services are offered. A total of about 60 partners are integrated into the *PUSH*! network (cf. Table 1).

5.2 Innovative and technological potential of the regions

Different indicators can be used to show a region's innovation and technology potential, however, most of them only outline the input for innovation processes (cf. the extensive illustration given in ISI et al. 2000). In the following analysis, the R&D rate (number of R&D staff in proportion to the total number of employees) and the number of patent applications for scientific inventions will be used as an example. Since the EXIST programme focuses primarily on academic institutions, the invention activities of the scientific staff give a better image of their technological specialisation and their innovation and founding potential than the number of inventions of all patent applicants. It must nevertheless be taken into account that, up to the present, the German scientific system has only offered university professors very limited incentives to process a patent application for an invention which may have developed within a research project. On the one hand, inventions by professors, lecturers or scientific assistants automatically belong to them according to the privilege for university professors regulated by § 42 Arbeitnehmererfindungsgesetz (legal invention regulation for employees), on the other hand, they have to process the patent application as well as possible license negotiations by themselves and at their own expense (Schmoch/ Koschatzky 1996: 111). Their interest in patent applications is therefore relatively low (about 4 % of the total of patent applications) due to the conflict between an interest in publication and patent application on the one hand, and the high costs for the patent procedure on the other hand. In contrast to the U.S., research institutions and in particular universities seldom apply for patents, which distinctly complicates database search for scientific inventions. Only quite recently, the Federal Ministry for Education and Research has launched an initiative to reform the German universities' patent right (BMBF 2000a). Another restriction regarding the use of patent data in general and especially in the scientific area is due to the fact that not all inventions are patentable (cf. Koschatzky 1997: 48-49), and that the creativity potential of university locations strongly focusing on social science is not sufficiently reflected in technology related patents. Nevertheless, patents have become an important indicator of input or throughput regarding innovation processes in the area of empirical research on innovation.

Regarding activities in the field of research and development, the greatest potential is found in the city of Stuttgart: 16.2 % of all employees subject to social insurance contributions are entrusted with R&D tasks. The planning region of Stuttgart, integrating the city itself and its surrounding areas, also shows a R&D rate of 7.6 %, distinctly exceeding the West German average of 3.4 % (figures for 1995; cf. ISI *et al.* 2000). Jena (8.6 %) and Dresden (7.6 %) also show above-average rates of R&D intensity, both considerably exceeding not only the West German average but also the East German average of 2.1 %. Related to *GET UP*, the Ilm district (Ilmenau) reaches a percentage of 2.7 %, whereas the district of Schmalkalden-Meiningen shows 1.8 %.

The R&D intensity in Karlsruhe is more or less average (municipal area: 4.5 %, district: 2.1 %), whereas the figures shown by the region of Wuppertal remain below average with a percentage of 2.6 % for the city itself and 2.2 % for the planning region (cf. Table 1).

With regard to patent applications by professors and scientific staff members, a slightly different sequence is found for the innovation potential of the five EXIST regions⁵. During the period 1994 to 1998, a total of 1,987 patents were applied for by scientific inventors from all five regions. Of these, 737 patent applications (37.1 %; cf. Table 1) come from the PUSH! region (Stuttgart and environments). Related to the total number of German scientific inventions during the above-mentioned period (8,555 patent applications), a share of 8.6 % was reached by PUSH!, which is equivalent to the figure found for the total of German patent applications accounting for the planning region of Stuttgart during 1998 (ISI et al. 2000). The following positions are held by KEIM (412 patent applications, which represents 20.7 % of all the scientific patents from EXIST regions), Dresden exists (376; 18.9 %), GET UP (264; 13.3 %), and bizeps (198; 10.0 %). If one takes the number of inhabitants per region as a reference, the above mentioned positioning shows different proportions. According to this indicator, the highest number of patent applications by scientists is reached by GET UP (with Jena as an internal leader) with 57 applications per 100,000 inhabitants, followed by Dresden with 38 applications per 100,000 inhabitants. These numbers reflect not only a higher potential of inventions developed by scientists in the two East German EXIST regions, but also an increased openness towards patent applications by East German universities. This is due to the higher ranking of scientific patents in the former German Democratic Republic, which was furthermore taken up by several universities at an early stage after re-unification (Koschatzky et al. 1995). With 32 patent applications per 100,000 inhabitants the KEIM region Karlsruhe/Pforzheim holds third place, closely followed by Stuttgart (PUSH!) with 30 applications. In an absolute comparison as well as in view of the R&D intensity and the number of patent applications, the figures for bizeps (Wuppertal/Hagen) point to an innovation and R&D potential which, in comparison with the remaining EXIST regions, remains belowaverage.

⁵ The investigation includes applications submitted by German inventors (professors and research institutions) to the German Patent and Trademark Office and to the European Patent Office regarding Germany as country of destination during the period 1994 to 1998. I thank Rebecca Rangnow for carrying out the analysis in the database PATDPA.

	bizeps	dresden exists	GET UP	KEIM	PUSH!
Population	1.7 million	470,000,	461,000	1.3 million	2.5 million
_		within com-			
		muting area			
		approx. 1.0			
		million			
Students	20,000 plus	24,100	24,300,	23,400	over 40,000
	44,000 in		Jena alone		
	Germany at		17,800		
	"Fernuniver-				
	sität Hagen"				
Students per	1,170 (without	2,410	5,280	1,800	1,600
100,000 in-	Hagen)				
habitants					
No. of closely	21	32	over 60	15	60
integrated					
network part-					
ners					
Share of R&D	2.6 % for	7.6 % for	8.6 % for Jena,	4.5 % for	16.2 % for
employment	Wuppertal	Dresden	2.7 % for Ilm-	Karlsruhe town	Stuttgart
in total em-			Kreis and	and 2.1 % for	
ployment			1.8 % for	Karlsruhe dis-	
			Schmalkalden	trict	
No. of firms in	889 of which	457 of which	209 of which	625 of which	1,609 of which
high-tech	861 SMEs	442 SMEs	200 SMEs	605 SMEs	1,491 SMEs
fields	28 large	15 large	9 large firms	20 large	118 large
	firms (share	firms (3.3%)	(4.3%)	firms (3.2%)	firms (7.3%)
	of all re-				
	gional firms:				
	3.1%)			10.1	
No. of high-	52.3	45.7	45.4	48.1	64.4
tech firms per					
100,00 inhabi-					
tants	1 100	1 276	1 1 264	1 10	1 727
Patent appli-	total: 198	total: 3/6	total: 264	total: 412	total: 737
cations by	share EXIST	share EXIST	share EXIST	share EXIST	share EXIST
scientists	regions:	regions:	regions:	regions:	regions:
1994-1998	10.0 %	18.9 %	13.3 %	20.1 %	3/.1 %
	snare in Ger-	share in Ger-	snare in Ger-	share in Ger-	snare in Ger-
			$\frac{11}{2}$ 1 or		
	2.3%	4.4 %	5.1 %	4.8 %	0.0 % non 100.000
	inhabitantes 12	inhabitante: 39	inhabitante: 57	inhabitante: 32	inhabitante 30

Table 1:Characteristics of the five EXIST regions

Source: internal material of EXIST evaluation; ISI *et al.* (2000); own patent searches in PATDPA

Patent data is an appropriate means not only for illustrating the innovation potential (in consideration of the above-mentioned restrictions) but also for analysing the technological specialisation of a given region. Therefore, the patent applications of scientific inventors were assigned to 30 technologies based on the International Patent Classification and divided into five technological fields. The regional patent specialisation was calculated by the relative patent advantage (RPA):

$$RPA_{ij} = 100 \tanh \ln \left[\left(P_{ij} / \sum_{i} P_{ij} \right) / \left(\sum_{j} P_{ij} / \sum_{ij} P_{ij} \right) \right]$$

" P_{ij} " represents the number of patents in a country or a region "i" in the technological field "j".

The reference values are established either by the number of national scientific patent applications in the respective technological fields, or by the total number of scientific patent applications processed in Germany from 1994 to 1998. Herewith, the logarithm assures a symmetric range of value around the neutral point 0, the tangens hyperbolicus leading to a limitation of the range of value to ± 100 . Taking into account fault tolerances, index values of more than ± 15 could be interpreted as an above or below specialisation.

Figure 2 shows the RPAs of the five technological fields electrical engineering, instruments, chemistry, process technology and mechanical engineering. Distinct difference is shown in view of the technological specialisation of the different regions, and consequently of the potential technological fields which could serve as a basis for firm foundations. Electrical engineering (RPA +72) is clearly shown as a strength of the PUSH! region of Stuttgart, especially telecommunication and data processing. In contrast to this, inventing scientists only play a minor role in the area of mechanical engineering (Greif 1998), another important sector of this region (RPA -6.2). Here, invention mainly takes place in companies. The remaining technology fields of the region too only show below-average specialisation in patents, which, however, concentrates on chemistry including biotechnology (RPA - 92). Some advantage is shown in the specialisation in electrical engineering by the *bizeps* region (Wuppertal/Hagen) as well as a distinct advantage in mechanical engineering with a RPA of +50.1. The scientific and technological strengths of the region are especially represented by machine tools, by consumption goods and in the transport area. Except for a negative specialisation regarding chemistry (RPA -61.5), an area in which almost all EXIST regions show weakness, Dresden's specialisation is in general average, but above-average in the field of process technology (materials, environmental technology) in view of scientific inventions (RPA +21.8). GET UP (Jena, Ilmenau, Schmalkalden) shows strengths in both areas of instruments (especially optics) and of chemistry (organical chemistry, polymers). In these fields, the region attains RPAs of +19 respectively +33.5. The KEIM region of Karlsruhe-Pforzheim excels with its scientific inventors' strengths in

the technological fields of instruments (RPA +39.9), especially regarding nuclear technology and measurement, as well as process technology (+30; environmental technologies, process engineering). In comparison with Stuttgart, weakness is mainly shown in the areas of electrical engineering and chemistry, as well as mechanical engineering.

Figure 2: Relative patent specialisation of scientific inventors in the five EXIST regions



Source: own calculations

Both the various fields of technological specialisation on the side of scientific inventors and the data presented above show the extent to which the individual EXIST regions differ from each other in view not only of their scientific potential but also their economic structure and the role played by the respective HEIs in this context. An inter-regional comparison shows that the region Wuppertal-Hagen (bizeps) has the most unfavourable starting conditions, academic research potential emerging from only two higher education institutions (HEIs) and showing a distinctly lower degree of R&D intensity than the remaining EXIST regions. Although the activities of Dresden exists concentrate on only one university, the region is distinguished from Wuppertal-Hagen by a differentiated research infrastructure; moreover, several large-scale microelectronic companies are located in this region, the R&D intensity of which far exceeds the East and West German average. GET UP (Jena, Ilmenau, Schmalkalden) is also part of a developing high- tech cluster in East Germany, made up of industries which drive R&D, and a diversified range of research institutions. According to the criteria mentioned in section 2, the Wuppertal/Hagen region cannot be considered as a regional innovation system due to the lack of a broad basis of various research institutions. Whereas a diversified research offer exists both in Dresden and in Jena/Ilmenau/Schmalkalden, only Dresden has autonomous governance competence due to its function as capital of the federal state of Saxony. Due to the location of substantial political institutions in the regional capital Erfurt, the autonomy of the GET UP region is limited. Karlsruhe and Stuttgart form a separate regions within the regional innovation system of Baden-Württemberg (Braczyk et al. 1995; Cooke/Morgan 1994; Heidenreich/Krauss 1997); their research and innovation potential also shows high diversity, and they also have autonomous political competence. Consequently, a differing potential for firm foundations from HEIs can be expected depending on the respective regional starting-conditions; moreover, in order to achieve the objective of promoting an entrepreneurial climate at HEIs, varying models and network configurations can be expected from one region to another.

6. Network building in the five EXIST regions – a general overview

6.1 Methodological issues

In order to achieve an insight into the formation process of networks in the five EXIST regions, the Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research carried out a network analysis within its scientific assistance granted to the EXIST regions. By means of communication analytical instruments taken from empirical social science, the following aspects were raised in a written survey (for more details, cf. Bührer/Görisch 2001):

• identification of the most important partners as well as their functions within the regional network;

- registration and assessment of communication channels and network structures, as well as
- pointing out existing obstacles in the networks.

The survey results give an impression of the participants' individual (internal) assessment of the network structures and their impediments. The questionnaires were distributed from October 1999 to January 2000 to the most important network partners, which had previously been selected in cooperation with the network co-ordination centres. In total, 170 questionnaires were dispatched, and 126 could be analysed. The total response rate was 74 %, ranging from 67 % to 86 % according to the regions. Due to the fact that the efficiency of some of the network partners had to be evaluated, the five initiatives were assured that the analyses of their questionnaires would only be returned to them, and that any data would only be published anonymously. For this reason the results cannot be assigned to the five initiatives in this analysis, and the regions will be labelled from A to E disregarding the alphabetic order used up to now.

6.2 Network structures and network obstacles

As has already been shown, the five EXIST initiatives developed different network structures; this affects not only the number of permanently involved partners, but also the number of HEIs and their functions within these networks. Although the EXIST programme was focused on HEIs, these are only player (even though an important one) in a variety of organisations whose common objective is the encouragement and improvement of their respective regional climate for firm foundations.

For obtaining a first insight into the variety of potential cooperation relationships, the survey recorded the number of those institutions listed in the questionnaire which had been recognised as network participants. The results indicate the number of potential cooperation partners, which is compared with the number of actually existing cooperation relationships. The bigger the gap between possible cooperation partners and the number of existing cooperation relationships, the less the regional network potential is made use of or the less the network participants complement each other. In Figure 3 this relationship is illustrated for the five EXIST regions.



Figure 3: Size of network and number of cooperations

Source: EXIST network analysis

Regions B and D in particular do not make use of the possible cooperation potential offered by the existing network relationships. Here, the share of cooperation is 34 % and 39 %, while it lies between 49 % and 60 % (region E) in the remaining three regions. Possible reasons for the different regional cooperation frequencies are identified by answers to the questions whether the network relationships represent new contacts which have come into existence only in the framework of the EXIST initiative, or whether these contacts existed previously. The two regions in which the network potential is the less utilised are also characterised by the smallest share of new relationships (cf. Table 2). Only 19% (region B) and 23% (region D) of the contacts have recently come into existence, whereas 55 % or 51 % have been in existence for a longer period. The opposite is true in the three remaining regions with a majority of new relationships. At first sight, these figures lead to the conclusion that the EXIST networks of regions B and D were essentially built up on the basis of established contacts, while EXIST has led to the establishment of new founding-oriented networks in the remaining regions. However, due to the fact that at least one of the three regions is characterised by a long founding tradition, the presumption that these regions were not concerned with the promotion of founding activities cannot be confirmed as such. It is more probable that, in the regions B and D, EXIST activities were more strongly integrated into existing institutional structures regarding innovation and founding, whereas new partners were actively searched for in the regions A, C and E. This could be interpreted as a new orientation of existing networks in order to better adapt these through new knowledge, new resources and intensified competition within the network to the EXIST challenge. In contrast to this, in regions B and D, where great cooperation potential exists, only established cooperation relationships are routinely used for EXIST.

	Cooperations	of which are	e (in %)			
	altogether (n)	newly established	noticeable intensified	long existing	reduced	no infor- mation
Region A	442	46	17	26	-	11
Region B	361	19	24	55	-	3
Region C	299	60	11	24	0.3	5
Region D	320	23	16	51	-	10
Region E	227	52	26	14	-	8

Table 2: Duration and intensity of networking relationships

Source: EXIST network analysis

Intensified utilisation of the network potential in the regions A, C and E is because the new partners have to establish contacts in order to become acquainted with each other and to reduce uncertainty. Therefore, in an inter-regional comparison, regions A and C show the highest share of extremely frequent network exchanges. 29 % of the respondents from region A and 33 % from region C indicated daily or weekly exchange rates. These figures correspond with 22 % from region B, 27 % in D and 21 % in region E. However, intensified exchange does not necessarily mean more efficient network management and more successfully organised common support measures. Due to the fact that the establishment of new contacts demands cost and personnel resources, unsuccessful cooperation can lead to discontent. This is, however, not confirmed at the moment of the survey. In regions A, C and E the climate of cooperation is predominantly evaluated as excellent, in part distinctly better than in regions B and D (cf. Table 3). 48 % of the respondents from region A and 36 % from region C considered the co-operation climate to be very good (against only 24 % in region D). However, if the excellent and good assessments are condensed, then this evaluation is relativized in favour of regions B and D. With 67 % positive assessments, region D attains a similar share to region E with 68 %. Regions B and C reach 74 % respectively. The better rating "good" from the established networks of the two latter regions points to relationships which have grown and become stable over time, which - as experience shows – are assessed as "good" rather than as "very good" or "excellent".

	Cooperations	of which are (in %)						
	altogether (n)	very good	good	satisfac- tory	sufficient	insuffi- cient	no infor- mation	
Region A	442	48	32	8	1	1	10	
Region B	361	30	44	16	3	0.3	6	
Region C	299	36	38	18	3	1	4	
Region D	320	24	43	15	3	3	11	
Region E	227	26	42	22	4	4	3	

Table 3:Cooperation climate

Source: EXIST network analysis

In general, horizontal networks are characterised by hierarchy-poor exchange relationships (cf. Powell 1990; Semlinger 1998). In the case of the EXIST networks, which are based partly on existing relationships and partly on newly established contacts, university-based or external coordination units are responsible for the formal operation of the project as well as for network coordination and information. The different organisational models of networks as chosen by the individual initiatives are reflected by the respective hierarchical levels of exchange between the network partners (cf. Figure 4). According to this, the networks of regions A and E are characterised by hierarchical exchange, while regions C and D show more decentralised organisational structures. Due to the fact that both the hierarchy-oriented network of region E and the more decentralised network of region D are coordinated by university-internal institutions, no correlation can be found between university-internal and university-external coordination and the level of hierarchy. In contrast to this, network management of regions A and C is carried out by university-external organisations. The difference in network hierarchy also cannot be explained by the share of newly established contacts (cf. Table 2). It can be assumed that a high share of new network relationships also entails more efforts for control, and consequently more intense hierarchical coordination. However, this is not the case for the EXIST networks: Region C, in which 60 % of all network contacts have recently come into existence, shows a level of hierarchy as low as that of the networks in region D, where the share of new contacts is only 23 %. Consequently, regional peculiarities seem to determine project organisation and channels of communication for the different levels of hierarchy.

Figure 4: Hierarchical pattern of network relations in the five EXIST regions



(shares of communication according to hierarchical levels)

Source: EXIST network analysis

Networks serve as an instrument of coordination, as well as for the exchange of information and resources. Due to the involvement of different partners with different interests and absorptive capacities, an increase in the network size leads not only to an increase in coordination efforts, but also to a lack of transparency and to obstacles in mutual exchange. The main purpose of EXIST networks is the support of a climate which stimulates entrepreneurship in HEIs and their regions. To achieve this objective, new entrepreneurship qualification opportunities must be created; furthermore, people (e.g. university graduates or university personnel) should be motivated to found their own companies. From the perspective of the network participants, the biggest obstacle in almost all regions was reaching the target group, at least during the starting phase of the EXIST project, during which the network analysis was carried out. Particularly in region E, which, together with region B, shows the highest potential of obstacles, the most important obstacle was seen in the lack of potential founders (68 % of the answers). Another situation is found in region C, where only 14 % of the respondents saw a bottleneck there. Since there is no higher foundation interest than in the remaining regions (cf. Table 5), expectations of the number of founding projects seem to be lower. Further important network-related obstacles are a lack of contact with other network participants (31 % of all answers from the five regions) as well as the lack of transparency in the network (also 31 % of all answers). A correlation between the size

of the network and its transparency could be presumed due to the fact that those regions which show a high level of the last-mentioned obstacle also show the highest number of answers to the obstacle "too many network partners" (regions B and E).

Obvious differences are shown concerning the assessment of the individual networks when the separate obstacles are condensed into categories (cf. Table 4). Obstacles regarding the cooperation process (i.e. a lack of coordination with the coordination unit, frequent turnover of responsible persons, lack of contact with other network participants, personal animosity, too few coordination meetings) are mainly shown in regions C and D. Here, the average figures reach 38 % and 36 %. There is a correlation between the obstacles mentioned above and the low level of hierarchically coordinated network relationships in these two regions; this points to the necessity for a central organisation to play an active role within the network management. Structural obstacles (i.e. priority setting of the own institution, gaps in the network offer, lack of network partners, too high a number of network partners, lack of sustainability of the initiative, lack of transparency, redundancies in the network) exist mainly in regions B and E (46 % and 44 % of the statements). Region A is especially characterised by external obstacles (42 %).

	Number of	of which are (Statements per		
	statements altogether	obstacles in networking	obstacles due to structure of network	external obstacles	respondent
Region A	66	21	37	42	2.1
Region B	86	28	46	26	3.2
Region C	43	38	35	28	2.0
Region D	64	36	39	25	2.4
Region E	58	25	44	31	3.1

Table 4:Categories of network obstacles according to regions

Source: EXIST network analysis

It is also interesting to note that the average number of statements given per respondent differs slightly between the regions. The lowest number of statements per respondent concerning network obstacles came from the regions C and A, while for region B - where the share of newly created contacts was lowest (cf. Table 2) – on average one more additional obstacle was indicated than for region C. This could point to a principally more critical approach towards the EXIST network but also to a real greater obstacle potential.

In spite of their different structural features the networks pursue common objectives, i.e. the encouragement of firm foundations and the creation of an entrepreneurial cli-

mate at HEIs. Despite different organisational models for the attainment of this objective, it should be asked whether or not the network activities had a positive influence on the players in view of their involvement in promoting entrepreneurship (cf. Figure 5). The direct effect on the involvement of the network partners must be considered as distinctly positive. At least 50 % of the respondents of all EXIST initiatives have either started or intensified their activities promoting entrepreneurship. In region E the activities of almost all players were reinforced. The most important mobilisation effect was shown in regions A and B, where almost one sixth of the players started their involvement in promoting entrepreneurship due to the initiative. However, regions B and D have the highest number of institutions (almost half) which have not modified the extent of their activities so far. Among the five EXIST regions, these two regions show the lowest share of new network partners, so that the high proportion of unchanged activities is another indicator for the integration of EXIST measures into existing activities in order to stimulate entrepreneurship in these regions.

Figure 5: Influence of EXIST on activities for entrepreneurship promotion in the five regions



Source: EXIST network analysis

6.3 Spin-off activity in the EXIST networks

Besides the general statement of intensified regional firm founding activities due to EXIST and the networks formed by the involved institutions, a great number of indi-

vidual measures and projects have come into existence in the separate regions which deal with different aspects of entrepreneurship stimulation at universities.⁶ This analysis cannot discuss all of the aspects; however, the range of measures includes the creation of a culture of entrepreneurship in teaching and research, the transformation of scientific research results into economic value added, the encouragement of the potential of both business ideas and founder personalities, and the increase in the number of innovative firm foundations and, consequently, the creation of new and stable jobs.

Although the number of recently founded innovative companies⁷ represents only one aspect in the assessment of the effects of networks and individual measures started by EXIST, it is an indicator of the successful implementation of the EXIST objectives, as well as of cooperation within the founding networks. As of 31 July 2000, a great number of innovative firm foundations could be registered which can directly or indirectly be attributed to EXIST activities and promotion (cf. Table 5).⁸

	Region A	Region B	Region C	Region D	Region E	Total
Foundation projects	183	147	109	71	320	830
Firm foundations	67	57	49	27	40	240
Share of foundations (%)	27.9	23.7	20.4	11.3	16.7	100.0
Share in regional NTBFs (%)**	30.0	12.1	59.0	23.5	30.5	23.4

Table 5:Firm foundation activity in the EXIST regions*

* as of 31 July 2000

** New technology-based firms founded in 1999 and 2000 in the five regions according to register of companies

With respect to the regional technological specialisation pattern identified on the basis of the patent analysis, a fairly large overlap can be found between the technologocal orientation of the new firms and the technologies in which the regions show an above degree of specialisation. Although in absolute terms the number of firm foundations is

⁶ Cf. for example the support process of the Karlsruhe and Pforzheim *KEIM* initiative, which includes the mobilisation and growth of potential entrepreneurs by raising awareness and talent testing, as well as the encouragement of concrete firm foundations through systematic preparation (coaching and feasability studies), the support of the foundation itself, as well as expansion support. Cf. also the various illustrations at www.exist.de, in particular the EXIST data bank with its description of individual measures.

⁷ According to the EXIST definition, innovative companies are firms offering products or services based either on scientific-technological ideas or on own research results.

⁸ According to estimates, about 50 to 100 new technology-based firms (NTBFs) showing high growth potential were founded every year in Germany during the second half of the 1990s, plus several hundred NTBFs with moderate growth potential, as well as many times this number of new technology-oriented small companies (cf. Lessat *et al.* 1999).

highest in regions A and B, regions C, E and A reach highest figures related to the regional potential of NTBFs. With regard to the indicators given in Table 1, i.e. regional high-tech companies or the patent application activities by scientific inventors (in shares respectively), the number of innovative firms founded in the regions A and C was distinctly higher than the respective comparative figures. In regions B and D none of the comparative figures was reached; region B showed particularly obvious negative deviation figures. Region E showed a level of EXIST foundations exceeding the regional proportion in patents, but remaining below the region's share of high-tech companies. It can thus be summarised that the regions C, A and E were particularly successful in initiating university-based firm foundations in the period under observation.

7. Conclusions and policy implications

At this point, it is difficult to create a link between network characteristics and the target achievement on the side of the networks, which is measured by the number of firm foundations. This is due to several reasons :

- The available data only enables qualitative conclusions due to the fact that the number of cases and the features of variables prohibit the use of multivariate statistical methods.
- The number of firm foundations is only one success indicator among others, which cannot reflect the range of activities of EXIST networks and their success very well.
- The assignment of firm foundations to EXIST could be unclear especially during the project's starting phase; moreover, assignment criteria were not homogeneous for all five networks.
- Causality between network organisation and the measure's results is not clear; moreover, complex non-linear correlations and inter-dependencies exist between individual measures and the total result of co-operation in networks.
- Network analysis and the number of firm foundations only reflect an intermediate status which covers the first half of the project; this does not represent the promotional measure throughout its lifespan.

Despite these limitations and in the background of the results presented above, it will be attempted to relate network structures and results of the network activities.

Regions A and C with their intense founding activities are distinguished by universityexternal network coordination showing frequent and broadspread participation by HEIs. Both networks (including that of region E) are characterised by the highest shares of newly established contacts (cf. Table 2). Furthermore (again including region E), they show a higher degree of started or intensified EXIST related activities than the networks of regions B and D (cf. Figure 5), which are mainly based on established contacts, making only below-average use of the possible regional cooperation potential. The highest level of assessment of an excellent cooperation climate also goes to region A and C (cf. Table 3). As was the case for the comparison of the number of firm foundations with the regional high-tech potential and the patent activities, region E holds an intermediate position. Similar to that of region D, its network is strongly centred on HEIs and coordinated by a university-internal coordination unit. Whereas, regarding the evaluation of the co-operation climate as "excellent" it holds place 3 following regions A, C and B, it holds second place regarding its share of newly established network contacts. The network of region B, which shows a lower level of firm foundations in relative comparison (related to firm foundations induced by EXIST), is coordinated externally and shows a lower degree of HEI-orientation than those of the remaining regions. It is based on a low level of newly established contacts and ranks on average according to the assessment of a "very good" co-operation climate. Less intense orientation towards HEIs, as well as an innovative environment, could be some of the reasons for a higher number of EXIST-induced firm foundations during the observation period, which, however, could not be registered as such. As shown by the analysis of the regions' innovation and technology potential, however, more than one region offers innovation-friendly framework conditions; consequently, the argument according to which foundations cannot be exactly assigned to EXIST due to a great variety of regional promotional measures could apply to several regions. Regarding the remaining network characteristics and obstacles presented above, no clear correlation could be made between these and firm founding activities. In region A, 50 % of the contacts are centrally coordinated, and in region C, only 30 %. Similar differences are found between the regions B and D (cf. Figure 4). Regarding the main network obstacles, regions A and C as well as B and D also show differences, so that a uniform pattern cannot be found here either.

If all those factors from this analysis – which is unfortunately only possible in such a limited way – which had a positive influence on firm founding activities induced by EXIST during the observation period are summarised, it is found that the regional networks which could contribute to a mobilisation of founding potential have the following characteristics: they

- are linked with an university-external coordination unit,
- benefit from a high level of participation of regional HEIs both in the networks and with the development and testing of new concepts and seminar styles for the education and advanced training of entrepreneurs,
- are not based on routines,

- show a cooperation climate considered as positive,
- show, to a great extent, a regional environment stimulating entrepreneurship.

However, the role played by regional conditions is relative, as is shown by the fact that EXIST-related firm founding activities in regions with a strong potential remained below average, while an obvious increase in the number of foundations was possible in regions with less favourable starting conditions. As shown by regions B and D, obstacles are primarily seen in traditional network structures and a non-existent or too limited degree of competition for the best concepts within the network; these obstacles have a negative influence not only on the degree of contentment with the cooperation, but also – at least according to the analyses presented above – on the number of innovative firm foundations as one result of the cooperation in networks.

Another substantial aspect, which could not be grasped in the presented data, is the social competence of the key people working in the networks. According to findings from the scientific monitoring of the EXIST project, particularly effective functioning is shown by those networks where interaction between primary players is trustful, and where barriers to information flow are largely non existent. As a matter of fact, the empirical evidence gained from EXIST networks not only emphasises the importance of the absorptive capacity for the realisation of positive external effects from cooperation relationships, but also the fact that networking is a social process, the success of which depends to a high degree on the social behaviour and the networking ability of the involved partners.

With regard to policy implications, the research questions formulated in this paper can be answered as follows:

- The EXIST programme launched by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research has contributed to the stimulation of the establishment of networks and has brought players together who otherwise would not have cooperated by their own (multi-actor/multi-measures approach).
- Due to their complex synergy regarding training, consultation and support in founding and financing questions, the activities and resources required for the mobilisation of founders, as well as for the creation of an entrepreneurial climate in HEIs and in the region, can only be exploited through networks where different players and institutions work together, and are coordinated either by HEIs or by external organisations. From the perspective of network economics, these horizontal networks represent a form of loose but coordinated coupling.
- The networks set up in EXIST regions contribute to the mobilisation of endogenous innovation resources by initiating collective learning processes.

- Due to their training and transfer function, universities and technical colleges can play an important role within their regions to sensibilise, mobilise and qualify (potential) entrepreneurs. Regional effects can both be recorded for universities and technical colleges. Therefore, the network approach of EXIST has led to a better integration of universities in their regional innovation systems.
- Continuous personal contacts between the network actors encourage cooperation based on trust and a positive climate in the networks. Spatial proximity between the actors encourages mutual exchange. Due to the fact that specific regional competence is introduced into the development and implementation of concepts for the training and qualification of entrepreneurs a competence which is spatially limited to these regions, the successful establishment of networks is positively influenced when these are focused on the closer spatial environment of HEIs.
- The economic-technological environment influences the efficiency of regional networks for the stimulation of entrepreneurship. However, the type of network relationships, as well as the network organisation, have an even more decisive influence on network performance.
- Related to the total number of regional companies, the number of innovative firm foundations which were induced by the EXIST project during the observation period is small. Also, effects on employment due to the new companies are only marginal during at first; moreover, no experience is available yet regarding the survival rate of the new companies. Nevertheless, the climate regarding entrepreneurship was obviously improved within the participating HEIs, as is shown by the number of firm foundations realised up to the present. Some of the universities have included entrepreneurship training programmes in their obligatory curriculum; moreover, a start has been made on training the trainer (e.g. by teachers who introduce management business games into their lessons).

Despite the obvious success of this network-based support measure, the question remains open as to whether the change in the entrepreneurial climate at HEIs and the networks supporting these changes will be sustainable even in times when public money is no longer available. Answering this question will only be possible in the future.

8. References

- Abramson, H.N./Encarnacao, J./Reid, P.P./Schmoch, U. (Eds.) (1997): *Technology Transfer Systems in the United States and Germany. Lessons and Perspectives.* Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- ADT [Arbeitsgemeinschaft Deutscher Technologie- und Gründerzentren] (1998): Projekt ATHENE. Ausgründungen technologieorientierter Unternehmen aus Hochschulen und außeruniversitären Forschungseinrichtungen. Abschlussbericht. Berlin: ADT.
- Anselin, L./Varga, A./Acs, Z.J. (1997): Local Geographic Spillovers between University Research and High Technology Innovations, *Journal of Urban Economics*, 42, 422-448.
- Antonelli, C. (2000): Collective Knowledge Communication and Innovation: The Evidence of Technological Districts, *Regional Studies*, 34, 535-547.
- Backhaus, A./Seidel, O. (1998):Die Bedeutung der Region für den Innovationsprozess, *Raumforschung und Raumordnung*, 56, 264-276.
- Becher, G./Gering, T./Lang, O./Schmoch, U. (1996): Patentwesen an Hochschulen. Eine Studie zum Stellenwert gewerblicher Schutzrechte im Technologietransfer Hochschule-Wirtschaft. Bonn: Bundesministerium für Bildung, Wissenschaft, Forschung und Technologie.
- Beise, M./Stahl, H. (1999): Public research and industrial innovations in Germany, *Research Policy*, 28, 397-422.
- BMBF [Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung] (2000a): Änderung des Hochschullehrerprivilegs soll jetzt zügig angegangen werden. Berlin: BMBF (Pressemitteilung 165/2000).
- BMBF [Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung] (2000b): EXIST University-based start-ups. Networks for innovative company start-ups. Bonn: BMBF.
- Boekema, F./Morgan, K./Bakkers, S./Rutten, R. (Eds.) (2000): *Knowledge, Innovation and Economic Growth. The Theory and Practice of Learning Regions.* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Braczyk, H.-J./Schienstock, G./Steffensen, B. (1995): The Region of Baden-Wuerttemberg: a Post Fordist Success Story? In: Dittrich, E.J./Schmidt, G./Whitley, R. (Eds.): *Industrial Transformation in Europe. Process and Contexts*. London: SAGE Publications, 203-233.
- Braczyk, H.-J./Cooke, P./Heidenreich, M./Krauss, G. (Eds.) (1998): Regional Innovation Systems. The Role of Governance in a Globalized World. London: UCL Press.

- Brockhaus, R.H. (1993): Entrepreneurship education: A research agenda. In: Klandt,
 H./Müller-Böling, D (Eds.): *IntEnt92 Internationalizing Entrepreneurship Education and Training*. Dortmund: Förderkreis Gründungs-Forschung, 3-7.
- Bührer, S./Görisch, J. (2001): Netzwerkanalysen als Evaluationsinstrument: Methoden und Fallbeispiele. In: Kuhlmann, S. (Ed.): Politische 'Steuerung' von Innovationssystemen? Potenziale der Evaluation von Multi-Akteurs/Multi-Maßnahmen-Wettbewerben. Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag (forthcoming)
- Capello, R. (1999): Spatial Transfer of Knowledge in High Technology Milieux: Learning Versus Collective Learning Processes, *Regional Studies*, 33, 353-365.
- Cimoli, M./Dosi, G. (1996): Technological paradigms, patterns of learning and development: an introductory roadmap. In: Dopfer, K. (Ed.): *The Global Dimension of Economic Evolution. Knowledge Variety and Diffusion in Economic Growth and Development.* Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag, 63-88.
- Cohen, W./Levinthal, D.A. (1990): Absorptive capacity. A new perspective on learning and innovation, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35, 128-152.
- Cooke, P. (1998): Introduction. Origins of the concept. In: Braczyk, H.-J./Cooke, P./Heidenreich, M./Krauss, G. (Eds): *Regional Innovation Systems. The role of* governances in a globalized world. London: UCL Press Limited, 2-25.
- Cooke, P. (1999): Regional Innovation Systems: General Findings and Some New Evidence from Biotechnology Clusters. Paper prepared for NECTS/RICTES Conference "Regional Innovation Systems in Europe", San Sebastian, 30 September-2 October 1999. Cardiff: Centre for Advanced Studies, University of Wales.
- Cooke, P./Morgan, K. (1993): The Network Paradigm. New Departures in Corporate and Regional Development, *Society and Space*, 11, 543-564.
- Cooke, P./Morgan, K. (1994): The Regional Innovation System in Baden-Württemberg, *International Journal of Technology Management*, 14, 394-429.
- Cooke, P./Uranga, M.G./Etxebarria, G. (1997): Regional innovation systems: Institutional and organisational dimension, *Research Policy*, 26, 475-491.
- Coombs, R./Hull, R. (1998): 'Knowledge management practices' and path-dependency in innovation, *Research Policy*, 27, 237-253.
- Cowan, R./Foray, D. (1997): The Economics of Codification and the Diffusion of Knowledge, *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 6, 595-622.
- DeBresson, C./Amesse, F. (1991): Networks of innovators. A review and introduction to the issue, *Research Policy*, 20, 363-379.

- Dosi, G. (1988): The nature of the innovative process. In: Dosi, G./Freeman, C./ Nelson, R./Silverberg, G./Soete, L. (Eds.): *Technical Change and Economic Theory*. London: Pinter Publishers, 221-238.
- Etzkowitz, H./Leydesdorff, L. (2000): The dynamics of innovation: from National Systems and "Mode 2" to a Triple Helix of university-industry-government relations, *Research Policy*, 29, 109-123.
- Etzkowitz, H./Webster, A./Gebhardt, C./Cantisano Terra, B.R. (2000): The future of the university and the university of the future: evolution of ivory tower to entrepreneurial paradigm, *Research Policy*, 29, 313-330.
- Fayolle, A. (1998): Teaching of Entrepreneurship: Outcomes from an innovative experience. Paper presented at IntEnt98, Internationalizing Entrepreneurship Education and Training, 8th annual conference, 26-28 July 1998 at the European Business School, Oestrich-Winkel.
- Florida, R. (1995): Toward the Learning Region, Futures, 27, 527-536.
- Greif, S. (1998): Der Stuttgarter Raum im Patentgeschehen der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, *Statistik und Informationsmamagement*, Heft 3, 67-78.
- Håkansson, H. (1989): Corporate Technological Behaviour. Co-operation and Networks. London: Routledge.
- Håkansson, P.-O. (1998): First Empirical Results of ExTra! University of Kaiserslautern's Training Program for Entrepreneurship. Paper presented at IntEnt98, Internationalizing Entrepreneurship Education and Training, 8th annual conference, 26-28 July 1998 at the European Business School, Oestrich-Winkel.
- Heidenreich, M./Krauss, G. (1997): Das baden-württembergische Produktions- und Innovationsmodell. Zwischen vergangenen Erfolgen und neuen Herausforderungen. In: Heidenreich, M. (Ed.): *Innovation in Baden-Württemberg*. Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft, 17-31.
- Heil, H. (1997): Entwicklung junger Unternehmen in West- und Ostdeutschland DtA-Befragung mit Eigenkapitalhilfe geförderter Unternehmen. Bonn: Deutsche Ausgleichsbank (Wissenschaftliche Reihe, Bd. 6).
- ISI [Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research]/Niedersächsisches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung [NIW]/Institut für Weltwirtschaft [IfW]/Deutsches Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung [DIW] (2000): Regionale Verteilung von Innovations- und Technologiepotentialen in Deutschland und Europa. Endbericht an das BMBF. Karlsruhe: ISI.
- Jaffe, A.B./Trajtenberg, M./Henderson, R. (1993): Geographic Localization of Knowledge Spillovers as evident by Patent Citations, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 108, 577-598.

- Kelm, M. (1996): Evolutionary and 'New' Institutional Economics: Some Implications for Industrial Policy. Cambridge: University of Cambridge (ESRC Working Paper Series 46).
- Klandt, H. (1991): Zur Existenzberechtigung einer speziellen Betriebswirtschaftslehre für die Gründungs- und Frühentwicklungsphase. In: Müller-Böling, D./Seibst, D./Winand, U. (Eds.): *Innovations- und Technologiemanagement*. Stuttgart: Schäffer Poeschel Verlag, 479-494.
- Klandt, H. (1994): Methods of Teaching: What is Useful for Entrepreneurial Education? In: Klandt, H./Mugler, J./Müller-Böling, D. (Eds.): *IntEnt93 – Internationalizing Entrepreneurship Education and Training*. Dortmund: Förderkreis Gründungs-Forschung, 34-43.
- Klofsten, M./Jones-Evans, D. (2000): Comparing Academic Entrepreneurship in Europe The Case of Sweden and Ireland, *Small Business Economics*, 14, 299-309.
- Koschatzky, K. (1997): Regionale Innovationsindikatorik dargestellt am Beispiel der Raumordnungsregionen Neckar-Alb und Schwarzwald-Baar-Heuberg, *Raumfor*schung und Raumordnung, 55, 48-58.
- Koschatzky, K, (2000): *The Regionalisation of Innovation Policy in Germany Theoretical Foundations and Recent Experience*. Karlsruhe: Fraunhofer ISI (Working Papers Firms and Region R1/2000).
- Koschatzky, K. (2001): Räumliche Aspekte im Innovationsprozess. Ein Beitrag zur neuen Wirtschaftsgeographie aus Sicht der regionalen Innovationsforschung. Münster: Lit-Verlag (forthcoming).
- Koschatzky, K./Héraud, J.-A. (1996): Institutions of Technological Infrastructure. Final Report to Eurostat. Karlsruhe: Fraunhofer ISI.
- Koschatzky, K./Schmoch, U./Walter, G.H. (1995): Aufbau von regionalen Innovationsdienstleistungen in den neuen Bundesländern: das Beispiel Patentinformation.
 In: Holland, D./Kuhlmann, S. (Eds.): Systemwandel und industrielle Innovation. Studien zum technologischen und industriellen Umbruch in den neuen Bundesländern. Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag, 223-242.
- Koschatzky, K./Sternberg, R. (2000): R&D cooperation in innovation systems Some lessons from the European Regional Innovation Survey (ERIS), *European Planning Studies*, 8, 487-501.
- Kulicke, M. (2001): Innovation Networks and Regional Venture Capital Companies in Germany – Experiences for Central and Eastern European Countries. In: Koschatzky, K./Kulicke, M./Zenker, A. (Eds.): *Innovation Networks. Concepts* and Challenges in the European Perspective. Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag, 191-204.

- Krugman, P. (1998): What's new about the new economic geography?, Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 14, 7-17.
- Landabaso, M./Oughton, C./Morgan, K. (2001): Innovation Networks and Regional Policy in Europe. In: Koschatzky, K./Kulicke, M./Zenker, A. (Eds): *Innovation Networks – Concepts and Challenges in the European Perspective*. Heidelberg: Physica, 243-273.
- Lawson, C./Lorenz, E. (1999): Collective Learning, Tacit Knowledge and Regional Innovative Capacity, *Regional Studies*, 33, 305-317.
- Lessat, V./Hemer, J./Eckerle, T.H./Kulicke, M./Licht, G./Nerlinger, E. et al. (1999): Beteiligungskapital und technologieorientierte Unternehmensgründungen. Markt-Finanzierung-Rahmenbedingungen. Wiesbaden: Gabler.
- Lundvall, B.-Å. (1988): Innovation as an interactive process: From user-producer interaction to the national system of innovation. In: Dosi, G./Freeman, Ch./Nelson, R./Silverberg, G./Soete, L. (Eds.): *Technical Change and Economic Theory*. London: Pinter Publishers, 349-369.
- Messner, D. (1995): Die Netzwerkgesellschaft. Wirtschaftliche Entwicklung und internationale Wettbewerbsfähigkeit als Probleme gesellschaftlicher Steuerung. Köln: Weltforum Verlag.
- Morgan, K. (1997): The Learning Region: Institutions, Innovation and Regional Renewal, *Regional Studies*, 31, 491-503.
- Müller-Böling, D. (2000): *Die entfesselte Hochschule*. Gütersloh: Verlag Bertelsmann-Stiftung.
- Nonaka, I./Takeuchi, H. (1995): *The Knowledge-Creating Company. How Japanese Companies Create the Dynamics of Innovation*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- North, D.C. (1990): Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Otten, C. (2000): *Einflussfaktoren auf nascent entrepreneurs an Kölner Hochschulen*. Cologne: University of Cologne (Department of Economic and Social Geography Working Paper No. 2000-03).
- Porter, M.E. (1998): Clusters and the new economics of competition, *Harvard Business Review*, November-December 1998, 77-90.
- Powell, W.W. (1990): Neither Market nor Hierarchy. Networks Forms of Organization. In: Cummings, L.L./Staw, B.M. (Eds.): *Research in Organizational Behavior*. Greenwich, Con.: JAI Press, 295-336.
- Pyke, F./Sengenberger, W. (Eds.) (1992): *Industrial districts and local economic regeneration*. Genf: International Institute for Labour Studies.

- Ratti, R./Bramanti, A./Gordon, R. (Eds.) (1997): *The Dynamics of Innovative Regions*. *The GREMI Approach*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Reynolds, P.D./Hay, M./Camp, S.M. (1999): *Global Entrepreneurship Monitor*. 1999 *Executive Report*. Boston: Babson College.
- Rosenberg, N. (1990): Why do firms do basic research (with their own money)?, *Research Policy*, 19, 165-174.
- Schefczyk, M./Garrecht, M. (2000): Interdisziplinäre universitäre Motivations- und Qualifikationsveranstaltungen zur Existenzgründung – Konzeptionelle Grundlagen und interuniversitärer Vergleich. In: Esswein, W./Sabisch, H./Schefczyk, M. (Eds.): Dresdner Beiträge zur Unternehmensgründung, Heft 1/2000. Dresden: Universität Dresden, 25-41.
- Schmoch, U./Koschatzky, K. (1996): Freie Erfindungen erfolgreich verwerten. Cologne: Verlag TÜV Rheinland.
- Schmoch, U./Licht, G./Reinhard, M. (Eds.) (2000): Wissens- und Technologietransfer in Deutschland. Stuttgart: Fraunhofer IRB-Verlag.
- Schmude, J. (1994): Geförderte Unternehmensgründungen in Baden-Württemberg. Eine Analyse der regionalen Unterschiede des Existenzgründungsgeschehens am Beispiel des Eigenkapitalhilfe-Programms (1979 bis 1989). Stuttgart: Franz Steiner Verlag.
- Semlinger, K. (1998): Innovationsnetzwerke. Kooperation von Kleinbetrieben, Jungunternehmen und kollektiven Akteuren. Eschborn: RKW.
- Spender, J.-C. (1996): Making knowledge the basis of a dynamic theory of the firm, *Strategic Management Journal*, 17, 45-62.
- Sternberg, R. (1995): Die Konzepte der flexiblen Produktion und der Industriedistrike als Erklärungsansätze der Regionalentwicklung, *Erdkunde*, 49, 161-175.
- Sternberg, R. (2000): Entrepreneurship in Deutschland Das Gründungsgeschehen im internationalen Vergleich. Länderbericht Deutschland 1999 zum Global Entrepreneurship Monitor. Berlin: edition sigma.
- Szyperski, N. (1990): Entrepreneurship innovative Unternehmensgründung als Aufgabe. Stuttgart: Poeschel.
- Tijssen, R.J.W. (1998): Quantitative assessment of large heterogenous R&D networks: the case of process engineering in the Netherlands, *Research Policy*, 26, 791-809.
- Tödtling, F. (1994): Regional networks of high-technology firms the case of the Greater Boston Area, *Technovation*, 14, 323-343.
- Tödtling, F. (1999): Innovation Networks, Collective Learning, and Industrial Policy in Regions of Europe, *European Planning Studies*, 7, 693-697.

- Varga, A. (2000): Local Academic Knowledge Transfers and the Concentration of Economic Activity, *Journal of Regional Science*, 40, 289-309.
- Werner, H. (2000): Junge Technologieunternehmen. Entwicklungsverläufe und Erfolgsfaktoren. Wiesbaden: Gabler Verlag.
- Ziegler, R./Kiefl, W./Preisendörfer, P. (1990): Betriebliche Neugründungen: Chancen, Risiken, Probleme – Erste Ergebnisse einer Befragung von Unternehmensgründern in München und Oberbayern. München: Universität München.

The series "Working Papers Firms and Region" presents research work of the department "Innovation Services and Regional Development" of Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research (ISI), Karlsruhe, Germany. The former "Arbeitspapiere Regionalforschung", published between 1995 and 1999, was merged in this new series.

No.	Authors	Title
R3/2001	Knut Koschatzky	The role of higher education institutions for entrepreneurship stimulation in regional innovation systems – Evidence from the network-oriented "EXIST: Promotion of university-based start- ups" programme in Germany
R2/2001	Emmanuel Muller Andrea Zenker	Business services as actors of knowledge transformation and diffusion: some empirical findings on the role of KIBS in re- gional and national innovation systems
R1/2001	Knut Koschatzky Casper Merkle Martin Berger Volker Meyer	Innovation und Kooperation bei unternehmensnahen Dienstleis- tern in Baden, Gironde und Südholland - Ein Vergleich zwischen jungen und alten Betrieben
R2/2000	Ulrike Broß Günter H. Walter	Socio-economic Analysis of North Rhine-Westphalia Joint Research Project INCO-COPERNICUS
R1/2000	Knut Koschatzky	The regionalisation of innovation policy in Germany – Theoreti- cal foundations and recent experience
R4/1999	Knut Koschatzky Ulrike Broß	Struktur und Dynamik von regionalen Innovationsnetzwerken unter Transformationsbedingungen – das Beispiel Slowenien
R3/1999	Emmanuel Muller	There is no territorial fatality! (or how innovation interactions between KIBS and SMEs may modify the development patterns of peripheral regions)
R2/1999	Knut Koschatzky Andrea Zenker	The Regional Embeddedness of Small Manufacturing and Serv- ice Firms: Regional Networking as Knowledge Source for Inno- vation?
R1/1999*	Ulrike Broß Knut Koschatzky Peter Stanovnik	Development and Innovation Potential in the Slovene Manufac- turing Industry First analysis of an industrial innovation survey * Already published as "Arbeitspapier Regionalforschung" No. 16

Address to order: Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research Library Breslauer Strasse 48 D-76139 Karlsruhe Tel. +49 / 721 / 6809-217 / -219 Fax: +49 / 721 / 689152 e-mail: gh@isi.fhg.de